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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 
 
WYNDHAM VACATION OWNERSHIP, 
INC., a Delaware corporation; WYNDHAM 
VACATION RESORTS, INC. a Delaware 
corporation, WYNDHAM RESORT  
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, an  
Oregon corporation; SHELL VACATIONS, 
LLC, an Arizona limited liability company;  
SVC-WEST, LLC, a California limited 
liability company; SVC-AMERICANA, LLC, 
an Arizona limited liability company; and 
SVC-HAWAII, LLC, a Hawaii limited  
liability company, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v.       Case No: 8:19-cv-1895-CEH-CPT 
 
THE MONTGOMERY LAW FIRM, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company;  
MONTGOMERY & NEWCOMB, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company; M. SCOTT 
MONTGOMERY, an individual; W. TODD 
NEWCOMB, an individual; CLS, INC. d/b/a 
ATLAS VACATION REMEDIES and also 
d/b/a PRINCIPAL TRANSFER GROUP, a  
Missouri corporation; ATLAS VACATION  
REMEDIES, LLC, a Missouri limited liability 
company; PRINCIPAL TRANSFER GROUP,  
LLC, a Missouri limited liability company;  
DONNELLY SNELLEN, an individual;  
JASON LEVI HEMINGWAY, an individual; 
MUTUAL RELEASE CORPORATION a/k/a 
417 MRC LLC, a Missouri limited liability 
company; DAN CHUDY, an individual;  
MATTHEW TUCKER, an individual; and 
CATALYST CONSULTING FIRM, LLC, a 
Missouri limited liability company,  
 
   Defendants.  
_______________________________________ 
 

AMENDED AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIM 
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 Defendants THE MONTGOMERY LAW FIRM, LLC (“Montgomery Law”) 

MONTGOMERY & NEWCOMB (“M&N”), M. SCOTT MONTGOMERY (“Montgomery”), W. 

TODD NEWCOMB (“Newcomb”) (cumulatively, the “Montgomery Defendants”), pursuant to 

this Court’s relevant Orders [D.E. 275, 279], file their amended affirmative defenses. The 

Montgomery Defendants’ responses to the factual allegations of Plaintiffs’ active pleading are 

incorporated by reference. Montgomery Defendants do not concede that they possess or assume 

the burden to prove each or any of their affirmative defenses. To the contrary, Montgomery 

Defendants maintain that Plaintiffs retain the burden of proof on all matters necessary to state and 

sustain its claims against Montgomery Defendants and that these affirmative defenses are 

avoidances pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 8.  

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 The Court lacks jurisdiction over some or all of Plaintiffs’ claims against Montgomery 

Defendants. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Some or all of Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the statute of limitations against Montgomery 

Defendants for each statute of limitations applicable to the claim Plaintiffs bring against 

Montgomery Defendants. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Some or all of Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by accord and satisfaction. For some or all of 

Plaintiffs’ claims, Plaintiffs essentially claim damages by losing a business relationship with 

timeshare owners. In some cases, Plaintiffs received the owners’ timeshare interests deeded back 

to them. In other cases, Plaintiffs simply received the right to the owners’ timeshare interests 
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without a timeshare owner deeding it back. In these and more cases, Plaintiffs are able to offer 

these timeshare interests at the same or greater prices than to the prior owners.  

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Some or all of Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by laches. Plaintiffs unreasonably delayed 

before bringing their causes of action against Montgomery Defendants by, among other things, 

waiting to collaborate with each other and other competitors in the timeshare market space to 

establish that it could bring the entire power of the timeshare market to bear before litigating all of 

its claims against Montgomery Defendants. Montgomery Defendants have been prejudiced by this 

unreasonable delay.  

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 In some or all cases, Montgomery Defendants helped or are helping timeshare owners to 

escape a fraud perpetuated by Plaintiffs on them. The fraud involves many elements and includes, 

but is not limited to, high-pressure, deceitful sales presentations.  

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 In some or all cases, Montgomery Defendants helped or are helping timeshare owners to 

escape being victims of anticompetitive behavior by some or all Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs have banded 

together with other owners in the timeshare industry to file lawsuits against timeshare exit entities 

in the Middle District of Florida, the Southern District of Florida, and, upon information and belief, 

in other jurisdictions, so as to reduce the competition among themselves and to help their respective 

subsidiaries and parent companies reduce competition. The coordination designed to buoy and/or 

raise timeshare prices through litigation or eradication of timeshare exit entities is an illegal per se 

violation under §1 of the Sherman Act.  

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
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 Plaintiffs lack standing for some or all of their claims against Montgomery Defendants. 

Not all of Plaintiffs are created equal, but the complaint seems to allege that they are all equally 

harmed by Montgomery Defendants. Montgomery Defendants’ advertising, commercial speech, 

or non-commercial speech did not refer to all Plaintiffs or affect all and thus they may not seek 

remedies under the Lanham Act.  

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Any damages that Plaintiffs prove should be set-off by the value of any timeshare interest 

Plaintiffs receive, as measured by their own sales, as well as the ongoing payments Plaintiffs 

receive or could receive due to those sales.  

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs have waived any claims against Montgomery Defendants to the extent that they 

have accepted or legally acquiesced to a deeded back timeshare interest or cancelled contract.  

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs in whole or in part acquiesced to Montgomery Defendants’ actions by permitting 

its timeshare owners to deed back and otherwise relieve themselves of their timeshare interests 

short of foreclosure for several months. Eventually, Plaintiffs banded together both inside and 

outside of a trade association to anticompetitively litigate against entities like Montgomery 

Defendants so as to reduce their competitive pressure and raise or sustain prices. But they should 

be estopped from recovery as a result of their acquiescence.  

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 The contracts or business relationships alleged to exist by Plaintiffs with timeshare interest 

owners are invalid in restraint of trade pursuant to both the Sherman Act as well as the Florida 

Antitrust Act under Florida Statute §§ 542.18, 542.33.  
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TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 The amount of cost for any Montgomery Defendant exceeds their amount of profits for any 

alleged violation of the Lanham Act, precluding recovery under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a).  

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 To the extent any Plaintiff succeeds in proving a violation of the Lanham Act, all 

Montgomery Defendants were engaged solely in the business of printing the violating matter for 

others and were an innocent violator under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(2)(A).  

FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 To the extent that Plaintiffs rely on statements made by Montgomery Defendants, 

Montgomery Defendants’ statements are non-actionable puffery. To the extent that Plaintiffs’ 

Lanham Act claims against any Montgomery Defendants are predicated upon statements made by 

other defendants or third parties, those statements, too, are non-actionable puffery.  

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Persons who managed to escape their timeshare ownership interests were initially 

defrauded and misled by false and/or fraudulent advertising of the same kind that Plaintiffs allege 

Montgomery Defendants made. Additionally, the alleged timeshare owners at issue were parties 

to unconscionable adhesion contracts drafted and pushed by Plaintiffs. As a result of Plaintiffs’ 

own unclean hands, they should not prevail on any of their claims against Montgomery 

Defendants.  

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 All Plaintiffs lack standing for claims under the Lanham Act because their interests do not 

fall within the “zone of interests” protected by the Lanham Act. Among other bases for this 

affirmative defense, Plaintiffs and Montgomery Defendants are not competitors, direct, indirect or 
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otherwise. Indeed, if Plaintiffs and everyone in their industry went out of business, Montgomery 

Defendants would be out of business, too. In economics terms, Plaintiffs and Montgomery 

Defendants are complements, not substitutes, nor any kind of substitute.  

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 All Plaintiffs lack standing for claims under the Lanham Act because their alleged injuries 

were not proximately caused by violations of the Lanham Act. Among other bases for this 

affirmative defense, persons who manage to escape their timeshare ownership interest would do 

so regardless of Montgomery Defendants’ participation. Additionally, it is Plaintiffs’ own 

misrepresentations and poor business practices that lead to the desperation of consumers to rid 

themselves of these timeshare ownership interests.  

EIGHTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Any damages that any Plaintiffs have sustained is as a result of a failure to mitigate their 

damages. They could easily educate timeshare owners about their rights and responsibilities, stop 

their fraudulent sales pitches, reform their misleading and/or false statements to potential owners, 

or allow timeshare owners out of contracts with no fee or hassle, but they does not. They could 

make Ovation regularly available and also provide a satisfaction or service guarantee for timeshare 

exits, but they do not. Instead, they continue “selling” timeshare ownership interests for several 

thousands of dollars, while the immediate re-sale value of such interests is zero or actually a 

negative value.  

NINETEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs’ tortious interference claims fail because any contract or business relationship 

alleged by Plaintiffs would have been breached or broken regardless of Montgomery Defendants’ 

conduct.  
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TWENTIETH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Any alleged tortious interference by Montgomery Defendants was legally justified insofar 

as it was privileged by reason of the interests furthered by their conduct. The contract or business 

relationships with timeshare owners alleged by Plaintiffs were or should have been terminable at 

will. Plaintiffs merely had an expectancy that the contract or business relationship would continue, 

not a right.   

TWENTY-FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs’ FDUTPA claims are pre-empted in whole or in part by Florida Statute § 501.212 

because Montgomery Defendants’s actions are permitted under federal and state law, specifically 

the Sherman Act, the Florida Antitrust Act, and Florida common law. 

TWENTY-SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs represented timeshare owners as attorneys and, as such, the actions taken by 

Montgomery Defendants are protected by the litigation privilege, which should protect all aspects 

of the actions taken by Montgomery Defendants in respect to the allegations made by Plaintiffs.  

TWENTY-THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Montgomery Defendants are immunized from Plaintiffs’ Counts IV through IX because of 

the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. Montgomery Defendants are lawyers and the alleged wrongful 

conduct of these Defendants is nothing more than acts reasonably attendant to litigation and are 

for the purpose of securing a favorable outcome for the subject timeshare owner clients and to 

protect and advance said owner clients’ legal rights. Counts IV through IX of the Complaint 

constitute transparent attempts by the Plaintiffs to intimidate defrauded and/or disadvantaged 

timeshare consumer clients and/or the attorneys retained by and/or for the benefit of those parties 

and thereby to restrict and/or to inhibit the rights of each to petition for the redress of grievances 
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against the Plaintiffs before the judicial branches of government and/or to engage in acts 

reasonably attendant to potential litigation and the protection of those rights secured by the First 

Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as by the comparable and applicable 

provisions enacted in other jurisdictions of the United States, including, but not limited to, Section 

5, Article 1 of the Florida Constitution.  

TWENTY-FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Plaintiffs’ claims against Montgomery Defendants are barred, in whole or in part, because 

an agent is not liable for the torts of a principal and Montgomery Defendants are not liable for the 

acts of others over whom they have no control as Montgomery Defendants do not control the 

actions of other defendants or the alleged advertisements or other actions alleged as wrongful. 

TWENTY-FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claims against Montgomery and Newcomb are barred, in whole or 

in part, per the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine, inasmuch as they are agents of Montgomery 

Law and/or M&N.   

TWENTY-SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 Plaintiffs’ FDUTPA claims against any Montgomery Defendants are barred, in whole or 

in part, because Montgomery Defendants actions did not occur in the State of Florida or the effects 

of their actions were not in the State of Florida.  

TWENTY-SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Plaintiffs’ tortious interference claims are barred, because Montgomery Defendants, as 

agents and legal counsel of their clients, stand in the shoes of their clients and were hence a party 

to the contracts of their clients. Therefore, Montgomery Defendants could not have interfered with, 

or conspired to interfere with, their own contracts. 
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JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

 Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Montgomery Defendants demand a trial on all issues of fact 

so triable.  

MONTGOMERY DEFENDANTS’ COUNTERCLAIMS AGAINST PLAINTIFFS 

The Parties 

1. Counterclaim Plaintiff The Montgomery Law Firm, LLC is a limited liability 

company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri with a principal place of 

business at 901 E Saint Louis Street, Suite 1201, Springfield, Missouri 65806. 

2. Counterclaim Plaintiff Montgomery & Newcomb, LLC is a limited liability 

company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri with a principal place of 

business at 901 E Saint Louis Street, Suite 1201, Springfield, Missouri 65806. 

3. Counterclaim Plaintiff M. Scott Montgomery, Esq. is an individual and resident of 

the State of Missouri, whose office is at 901 E Saint Louis Street, Suite 1201, Springfield, Missouri 

65806. 

4. Counterclaim Plaintiff W. Todd Newcomb, Esq. is an individual and resident of the 

State of Missouri whose office is at 901 E Saint Louis Street, Suite 1201, Springfield, Missouri 

65806. 

5. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendants Wyndham Destinations, 

Inc. f/k/a Wyndham Worldwide Corporation and Wyndham Vacation Ownership, Inc. are 

corporations organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware with a principal place 

of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821. 
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6. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant Wyndham Vacation 

Resorts, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware with 

a principal place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821. 

7. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant Wyndham Resort 

Development Corporation is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Oregon with a principal place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 

32821.  

8. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant Shell Vacations LLC is a 

limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Arizona with a 

principal place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821.  

9. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant SVC-West, LLC is a limited 

liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of California with a principal 

place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821.  

10. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant SVC-Americana, LLC is a 

limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Arizona with a 

principal place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821.  

11. Upon information and belief, Counterclaim Defendant SVC-Hawaii, LLC is a 

limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Hawaii with a 

principal place of business located at 6277 Sea Harbor Drive, Orlando, Florida 32821. 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

 
12. These counterclaim actions arise, inter alia, under the Laws of the United States, 

including the Lanham Act. As a result, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case 
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pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the 

pendant state counts pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.  

Personal Jurisdiction and Venue 

13. The Court has personal jurisdiction over the counter-defendants Wyndham, inter 

alia, by reason of their having filed suit herein. Venue is proper before this Court. 

Count I – Tortious Interference with Business Relationships 

14. The Counterclaim Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs 1-13. 

15. Wyndham alleges that the Counterclaim Plaintiffs and the Plaintiffs are 

competitors. [“144….Because Wyndham Owners can be either a customer of Defendants, or a 

customer of Wyndham, but not both, they are competitors”… “158. The CLS Defendants’ False 

and Misleading Advertisements described above were commercial speech made by a defendant 

acting in competition to Wyndham by trying to interfere with Wyndham’s business relationships 

for the CLS Defendants’ own financial gain,…”   “163. The CLS Defendants are operating as 

competitors to Wyndham.  [[D.E. 1, filed12/10/2018, ¶¶ 144, 158, 163.]]  

16. The Counterclaim Plaintiffs possess existing and prospective business 

relationships with specific clients and customers that had purchased timeshare properties or 

timeshare points from Wyndham (“Wyndham timeshare owners”). In the Complaint, Plaintiffs 

specifically allege that Defendants “successfully solicited Wyndham Owners and caused or 

induced them to breach and/or terminate their contractual relationships with Plaintiffs,” and that 

Defendants “intentionally procured the breach of Wyndham’s contractual relationships by 

soliciting identifiable Wyndham Owners . . . .” [D.E. 1 ¶¶ 206-207.] 
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17. Plaintiffs further represent that “[t]he specific Wyndham Owners and Timeshare 

Contracts are identifiable,” but attaching relevant documents identifying the Owners to the 

Complaint was impractical given the length of the documents. Id. ¶ 207 n.3. Specifically in 

Wyndham's words, and as pointed out by the Court (Doc. 275, filed 5/5/20, page 10): “[t]he 

specific Wyndham Owners and Timeshare Contracts are identifiable,” but attaching relevant 

documents identifying the Owners to the Complaint was impractical given the length of the 

documents. Id. ¶ 207 n.3. It is precisely the same with regard to the identity of these numerous 

Wyndham Owners who are clients of the Montgomery Defendants, and who are parties to 

contracts with the Montgomery Defendants that are being interfered with by Plaintiffs Wyndham. 

18. Wyndham has sought to intimidate such clients and customers and the 

Counterclaim Plaintiffs from entering into contractual relationships, and to undermine existing 

contractual relationship by threatening suit, and by filing a multiplicity of lawsuits nationwide 

against other so-called “timeshare release companies” and their lawyers who represent 

dissatisfied and aggrieved Wyndham timeshare owners. Such law suits include, for example, and 

in addition to attorneys Montgomery and Newcomb and their law firms, Wyndham has 

orchestrated lawsuits against attorney Ken Privett from Oklahoma; and filed suit in Wyndham v. 

US Consumer Attorneys, DC Capital Law Firm, et al., Case No. 9:18-cv-81251, Diamond 

Resorts International, Inc. et al v. US Consumer Attorneys P.A., Case No. 9:18-cv-080311-RLR, 

and Wyndham Vacation Ownership, Inc. et al v. Totten Franqui Davis & Burk, LLC et al, Case 

No. 9:18-cv-81055-DMM in the Southern District of Florida; and filed suit in Wyndham v. CLS 

and Attorney Mary Clapp in the Southern District of Florida; and filed suit in Wyndham Vacation 

Ownership, Inc. et al v. Reed Hein & Associates, LLC et al, Case No. 6:18-cv-02171-PGB-TBS 

in the Middle District of Florida (Orlando), and a host of others.  
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19. Significant injurious interference has in fact occurred via Wyndham's false, 

misleading and libelous advertising and marketing, and in representations, statements and 

comments made in commerce, and the wrongful use of the laws of the United States -- all 

constituting wrongful conduct separate from the interference, per se, and falling outside the 

boundaries of privileged and/or fair competition. At all times, Wyndham knew of, and intended 

to interfere with, the present and prospective business advantage belonging to the Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs, and this unlawful conduct of Wyndham has caused immense damage to Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs. 

20. More specifically, Wyndham has made statements to the trade and others, which 

are libelous, per se, and which contain false and misleading statements – all for the express 

purpose of the tortious misappropriation of the business properties of another based upon known 

falsehood. 

21. Wyndham yet further represents to the public directly or implicitly that the 

marketing and sales of the Counterclaim Plaintiffs services are unlawful, and further seriously 

implies that the recipients thereof will also be subject to lawsuits and other harassment, if the 

recipients continue to do business with Counterclaim Plaintiffs. 

22. Wyndham further represents on its website, for the purposes of tortious interference 

with prospective business relationships and expectancies that: 

Beware of False Promises and COVID-19 Scams 
 
During this time of national crisis, timeshare owners are being targeted with 
misleading advertising by companies that are preying on the vulnerabilities of 
people who have had their personal and professional lives disrupted. 
 
There are several solicitations and scare tactics being used by these predatory 
marketers. Some falsely suggest owners turn over their points in return for money 
or claim that owners will be assessed for COVID-19 costs.  Some try to lure owners 
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into a scheme to pay thousands of dollars to exit their ownership.  All promise 
services they likely do not actually provide. 
 
If you are facing financial hardship, we are here to help you. Before turning to a 
third-party, we urge you to contact us directly at 866-948-4690 or 
visit wyndhamcares.com for accurate information about timeshare exit 
options. Owners, please take note: If you retain a timeshare exit attorney, 
Wyndham is legally prohibited from working directly with you on a financial 
solution. If you need help, call us first. 
 
We urge all owners to be aware of these marketing scams and false advertisements. 
If you suspect one of these firms is preying on you or someone you know, call 1-
855-596-9233 or visit email scambusters@wyn.com. 
 
To learn more, visit our consumer safety page. (italics in original). 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares/scambusters 
 
23. Because Montgomery Defendants are timeshare exit attorneys, within the ambit 

of Plaintiffs’ definition of that term, Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and 

deceptive, and particularly Wyndham’s false statement that a non-lawyer entity who, and especially 

a co-party to a contract, cannot lawfully contact another layperson, the unethical purpose of which 

false statement by Wyndham is to interfere with the prospective business relationships and 

expectancies of the Counterclaim Plaintiff lawyers by discouraging Wyndham Owners from 

retaining counsel. 

24. Wyndham further represents on its website, for the purposes of tortious interference 

with prospective business relationships and expectancies, that: 

DON'T BE FOOLED 

There are dozens of third-party timeshare exit companies using misleading 
information, false advertising, and even scare tactics to take advantage of 
owners. 

Be wary of requests or claims to 

• Modify or cancel your Wyndham timeshare. 
• Provide upfront fees or wire transfers for a “service” or “tax.” 
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• Stating there’s an interested buyer for your timeshare. 
• Alleging to be a representative of the American Resort Development 

Association (ARDA) 
Report any potential scam or solicitation to a Scambusters representative 
at scambusters@wyn.com or call 1-855-596-9233. 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares/scambusters 

 

25. Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and deceptive, the unethical 

purpose of which false statement by Wyndham is to interfere with the prospective business 

relationships and expectancies of the Counterclaim Plaintiff lawyers, inter alia, by discouraging 

Wyndham Owners from retaining counsel through false and libelous statements. 

26. Thus, the Counterclaim Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief under applicable 

law and compensatory and exemplary damages to the extent allowed by law. 

Count II – Trade Libel 

27. Counterclaim Plaintiffs respectfully incorporate herein by reference the foregoing 

paragraphs 1-13, 22, and 24, supra, as if fully set forth below. 

28. Trade libel occurs through the publication of a false statement that intentionally 

disparages the quality of property or services and induces another not to deal with the libeled 

party, which thereby causes actual pecuniary damage. To constitute trade libel, the statement must 

be false, and the statement must disparage the quality of the libeled party’s products or services. 

Publication occurs when the libeler communicates the false statements to other persons or 

entities, orally or in writing. 

29. As alleged above and incorporating herein each of Wyndham’s slanderous and 

libelous statements of Paragraph 22 and 24, supra, Wyndham has made these and other false and 

disparaging statements to entities and individuals throughout the marketplace for timeshare 

properties and timeshare points, and specifically that the Counterclaim Plaintiffs are supposedly 
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not lawfully entitled to market their timeshare release services, while all the time Wyndham has 

been fully aware to the contrary.  

30. The statements aforesaid of Wyndham are thus false and disparaging to 

Counterclaim Plaintiffs and have been made with the express and clear intent to induce others not 

to deal with Counterclaim Plaintiffs, and on information and belief, Wyndham has been 

successful in this illicit effort. 

31. The Counterclaim Plaintiffs have suffered special damages, which are specifically 

stated below. This pecuniary loss to the Counterclaim Plaintiffs has been realized or liquidated, 

and constitutes lost attorney’s fees, lost income and/or lost sales. Accordingly, Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs are entitled to recovery of damages and injunctive relief under applicable law. 

Specifically, unless and until enjoined and restrained by order of this Court, the unlawful 

conduct of Wyndham will continue to cause grave and irreparable injury to Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs, inter alia, in the loss of customers, revenues and goodwill. 

Count III – Common Law Unfair Competition (Contingent) 

32. Counterclaim Plaintiffs  incorporate herein by reference the foregoing paragraphs 

1-13 and 15, as if fully set forth below. 

33. As set forth in Paragraph 15, supra, Wyndham has alleged that it competes with 

its opponent for a common pool of customers, and accordingly is judicially estopped to deny the 

same as a defense to a Contingent Counterclaim based upon the same alleged facts. 

34. The foregoing actions of Wyndham constitute unfair competition under the 

common law of the State of Florida. 

35. As a direct and proximate result of Wyndham’s unlawful acts, Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount to be determined at trial.  
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36. Unless enjoined by the Court, Wyndham’s unlawful acts will continue to cause 

irreparable damage, loss and injury to Counterclaim Plaintiffs for which they have no adequate 

remedy at law. 

Count IV – False Advertising under Lanham Act 

37. Counterclaim Plaintiffs incorporate herein by reference the foregoing paragraphs 

1-13, 15, 22, 24, as if fully set forth below. 

38. The relevant services of Montgomery Defendants is to permit Wyndham Owner 

clients to transition out of (i.e., to be released from) Wyndham ownership, which Wyndham 

alleges is the purpose and functioning of its Ovation program. 

39. In particular, Wyndham represents and advertises that1:  

  
WYNDHAM CARES 
 
OVATION GIVES YOU  
 
OPTIONS 
 
Club Wyndham understands your circumstances may change. Ovation by Wyndham offers simple, 
safe and secure options to transition out of ownership. Contact an Ovation by Wyndham 
representative at 866-294-4194. 
 

 

40. Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and deceptive.  

41. Wyndham yet further advertises and represents that:  

 
OVATION BY WYNDHAM 

 
1 https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-cares/ovation-by-
wyndham 
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If you feel that your Club Wyndham timeshare no longer meets your travel needs, Ovation 
by Wyndham representatives are ready to hear from you. 

• The team can identify a solution based on your unique need. 
• Ovation by Wyndham will handle the process for you from beginning to end. 
• There’s no pressure to accept an Ovation by Wyndham option. 
• There are NO additional costs or hidden fees. 

Contact an Ovation by Wyndham representative at 866-294-4194 to learn more about the 
available options. 

 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-cares/ovation-by-
wyndham 
 

42. Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and deceptive. 

43. Wyndham yet further represents on its website that: 

WHAT OTHERS ARE SAYING 
 
Read what some of your fellow owners have to say about the Wyndham 
Cares program. Call Wyndham Cares at 866-294-4194 to learn about your 
vacation options. 
 
"Erin did a fantastic job when we called in to Wyndham Cares. She walked 
us through all our options with the program. There were things we didn't 
know about that were very eye opening, and we cannot wait to try some of 
them out." 
"I would not be using my points if I did not have this service. I have many 
points but do not know how to use them and I love to travel but I do not 
know the website well. Thank you for helping me use my timeshare." 
"Quite often I lose track of my points that are expiring, Pete’s help allowed 
me to schedule a weekend at the beach! Thank you for your expertise!" 
"Due to my husband's illnesses, we are experiencing tremendous hardship 
in our monthly timeshare payment. I appreciate Raichel taking time to 
identify options that could assist us. She was pleasant and courteous with 
questions we asked." 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares/ovation-by-wyndham 

 
44. Upon information and belief, Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading 

and deceptive. 

45. Wyndham yet further represents on its website that: 
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OWNER ALERT 

SCAMBUSTERS 

Keeping you protected from companies working to scam timeshare owners into unethical 
resale, rental, cancellation, and more. Contact a Scambusters representative at 855-596-
9233 
 

 

46. Insofar as the above representations are directed toward the Montgomery 

Defendants, Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and deceptive. 

47. Wyndham further Represents on its website that : 

Beware of False Promises and COVID-19 Scams 
 
During this time of national crisis, timeshare owners are being targeted with 
misleading advertising by companies that are preying on the vulnerabilities of 
people who have had their personal and professional lives disrupted. 
 
There are several solicitations and scare tactics being used by these predatory 
marketers. Some falsely suggest owners turn over their points in return for money 
or claim that owners will be assessed for COVID-19 costs.  Some try to lure 
owners into a scheme to pay thousands of dollars to exit their ownership.  All 
promise services they likely do not actually provide. 
 
If you are facing financial hardship, we are here to help you. Before turning to a 
third-party, we urge you to contact us directly at 866-948-4690 or 
visit wyndhamcares.com for accurate information about timeshare exit 
options. Owners, please take note: If you retain a timeshare exit attorney, 
Wyndham is legally prohibited from working directly with you on a financial 
solution. If you need help, call us first. 
We urge all owners to be aware of these marketing scams and false 
advertisements. If you suspect one of these firms is preying on you or someone 
you know, call 1-855-596-9233 or visit email scambusters@wyn.com. 
To learn more, visit our consumer safety page. (italics in original). 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares/scambusters 
 
 
48. Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading and deceptive, and 

particularly Wyndham’s false statement that a non-lawyer entity who is a co-party to a contract 
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cannot lawfully contact another layman co-party, the unethical purpose of which false statement 

by Wyndham is to discourage Wyndham Owners from retaining counsel. 

49. Wyndham further represents on its website that: 

WYNDHAM CARES 
FEATURED RESELLERS 
Looking to sell your timeshare interest? Club Wyndham’s Featured 
Resellers are ones you can trust. Contact Wyndham Cares at 866-948-
4690. 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares/featured-resellers 

 

50. On information and belief, Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading 

and deceptive, and in particular because wyndham does not have adequate, qualified or effective 

“resellers”. 

51. Wyndham further represents on its website that: 

WYNDHAM CARES 
WYNDHAM CARES ABOUT YOU 
Travel preferences and finances change. When they do, Wyndham Cares 
can help you maximize your ownership, navigate your finances, or figure 
out if timeshare is still right for you. Contact Wyndham Cares at 866-398-
7517 or learn more about Ovation by Wyndham. 
https://clubwyndham.wyndhamdestinations.com/us/en/help/wyndham-
cares 

 
52. On information and belief, Wyndham’s said representations are false, misleading 

and deceptive, and in particular because Wyndham does not “figure out if timeshare is still right 

for you”. 

53. Multiple lawsuits have been filed nationally against Wyndham (i) for fraudulent 

misconduct, including fraudulent inducements to consumers to enter into timeshare contracts; (ii) 

for false advertising; and (iii) other tortious conduct --  all in regard to Wyndham’s sale of timeshare 

properties and timeshare points. 
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54. With the above background of falsehood and deception, and in order to attempt to 

diminish the negative publicity generated by Wyndham’s unlawful sales practices, including but 

not limited to Wyndham’s prior fraudulent “Pathways” program, Wyndham has initiated a 

purported “buy-back” program known as Ovation®. 

55. Wyndham’s Complaint herein states that Wyndham’s fraudulent inducements to 

consumers to enter into timeshare contracts can only be redressed via Wyndham’s supposed 

Ovation®  program. But, however, Wyndham’s supposed Ovation®  program is deceptive, 

illusory and inadequate. 

56. Wyndham’s Ovation program is deceptive, illusory and inadequate, inter alia, 

because:  

a. Despite Wyndham’s practices of selling its timeshare as an “investment” in 

violation of the Securities Laws of the United States, Wyndham’s fraudulent 

Ovation®  program is not a “buy-back” program, at all, but rather is a “surrender” 

manipulation, resulting (at best) in the loss of the timeshare purchaser’s entire 

investment; 

b. Wyndham’s Ovation®  program will not consider for relief owners who have not paid 

off their mortgage in-full, or who have belonged to other timeshare clubs that were 

subsequently bought by Wyndham, or other non-revealed reasons that are ever 

malleable and changing, and/or are arbitrary and are capricious; 

c. Even where an owner has been considered for the program, Wyndham’s fraudulent 

Ovation® program typically delays 6 months, in order to rack-up more maintenance 

fees and charges; and 

d. Wyndham’s willingness to take back a particular property into its inequitable and 

deceptive Ovation® program is without objective standard and is essentially unilateral, 

and thus subject to Wyndham's sole subjective opinion of purported re-salability, the 
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revenue from which will not be shared with the original timeshare owner, thereby 

resulting in a “double-dip” and unjust enrichment to Wyndham. 

57. The Montgomery Defendants’ hereof have sent more than 200 demand letters to 

Wyndham on behalf of aggrieved Wyndham timeshare owners, who have requested to be 

released from their misrepresented Wyndham contracts. But, however, Wyndham did not 

respond. Thus, if there were in fact a genuine buyback option, Wyndham has been provided with 

multiple opportunities to put it into motion. Wyndham haws never done so. As a result of 

Wyndham’s refusal to communicate regarding its (albeit fraudulent) Ovation® program, the 

Lawyer Counterclaim Plaintiffs have been forced, for example, to file litigation against 

Wyndham on behalf of their aggrieved clients. 

58. Most if not all of the Montgomery Defendants’ clients have existing “mortgages” 

-- i.e., owe substantial amounts of money to Wyndham  -- usually in the six-figure range. 

Wyndham’s supposed Ovation® program will not buy-back (or even accept a completely 

uncompensated surrender of) a timeshare from Wyndham owners who owe money on it. 

59. Moreover, many of the Montgomery Defendants’ clients are elderly persons, and 

who do not have a copy of their Wyndham timeshare contract. Wyndham has been asked to provide  

copies of the contracts for such clients. In order to thwart any genuine possibility of a buy-back, 

and further to conceal its false advertising and false representations, Wyndham continues to 

refuse.  

60. In fact, on information and belief, Wyndham has used the supposed Pathway and/or 

Ovation®  program together with its promises of a buy-back to extort additional illicit funds from 

these elderly victims by up-selling yet more Wyndham property and/or points to these hapless and 

oppressed Wyndham timeshare owners. 
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61. Clients have related horror stories, where they try to use exit programs sponsored 

by the resorts, pay an exorbitant “exit” fee of thousands of dollars, and still do not receive a release 

in the end. 

62. In marketing Wyndham’s supposed Pathway and Ovation® programs, Wyndham 

has used in interstate commerce literally false and/or misleading statements, descriptions and 

representations with respect to the parties’ respective products, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). 

63. Wyndham has made the false and/or misleading statements, descriptions and 

representations for the purpose of misleading, consumers and others, as alleged, supra.  

64. In addition, Wyndham has advertised its supposed Ovation®  program while 

wrongfully claiming, orally and in print materials that Counterclaim Plaintiffs do not have the 

lawful right to market their lawful service, and with the direct implication and intent that those 

who purchase the Counterclaim Plaintiffs’ competing timeshare release services will also be 

sued by Wyndham -- all the while when Wyndham indisputably knows that its assertions are 

false and/or misleading. Despite repeated demands, Wyndham willfully refuses to cease from this 

yet further unlawful course of conduct, to the continuing and extreme detriment of Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs and the Public. 

65. Wyndham’s false and/or misleading statements, descriptions and representations 

are material, in that they are likely to influence the purchasing decisions of consumers of timeshare 

services and/or products. 

66. Wyndham’s misconduct has been willful and wanton. 

67. As a direct and proximate result of Wyndham’s unlawful acts, Counterclaim 

Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount to be determined at trial. 
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68. Unless enjoined by the Court, Wyndham’s unlawful acts will continue to cause 

irreparable damage, loss and injury to Counterclaim Plaintiffs, for which they have no 

adequate remedy at law. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, it is prayed: 

 a. That Wyndham, take nothing by reason of its Complaint and that judgment be rendered 

in favor of the Answering Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs; 

 b. That the Court deny to Wyndham the injunctive relief and the monetary relief it has 

requested; 

 c. That this case be declared an “exceptional case” under the Lanham Act, and that the 

Answering Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs be awarded their reasonable attorney’s fees 

incurred in defense of this action and in prosecution of their Counterclaims;    

d. That the Answering Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs be awarded all appropriate 

compensatory and exemplary damages, including “increased damages” under the Lanham Act, and 

in such amounts to fully and fairly compensate for their injuries; 

 e. That the Answering Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs be awarded all appropriate 

injunctive relief and monetary relief, including reasonable attorney’s fees against the unlawful acts 

of Wyndham; and 

f. That the Court grant such other and additional relief to the Answering 

Defendants/Counterclaim Plaintiffs as the Court deems just. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Christian W. Waugh         
Christian W. Waugh [FBN 71093] 
Morgan Fayocavitz [FBN 1015835] 
WAUGH LAW, P.A.        
321 N. Crystal Lake Drive, Ste. 207 
Orlando, FL 32803 
Email:  cwaugh@waughpa.com  
Email: mfayocavitz@waughpa.com        
Email: rwood@waughpa.com   
Telephone:  321-800-6008         
Fax:   844-206-0245   
 
Counsel for the Montgomery Defendants 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on June 2, 2020, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of 

the Court by using the CM/ECF system and that all counsel of record participating in CM/ECF 

were served a copy. 

/s/ Christian W. Waugh         
Christian W. Waugh 
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